

The Royal College of Physicians of Ireland Policy Group on Alcohol

Submission on Public Health (Alcohol) Bill 2015



Table of Contents

Introduction2
About the Royal College of Physicians of Ireland2
The RCPI Policy Group on Alcohol3
Executive Summary5
Alcohol Consumption and Health Harm10
Underage Drinking 12
Evidence for Recommendations13
Enforcement
Minimum Unit Pricing
Restrictions on the sale of alcohol15
Alcohol Sponsorship16
Guidelines on safe drinking18
Excise duty to offset cost of alcohol harm
References

Introduction

About the Royal College of Physicians of Ireland

The Royal College of Physicians of Ireland (RCPI) represents over 10,000, Members and Fellows who work as hospital consultants and in other healthcare settings at home and abroad, as well as postgraduate doctors who are training in Irish hospitals to be the next generation of specialists.

Our doctors work in 27 specialities, treating medical conditions that include cancer, liver disease and Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease. They work on the frontline of the health services with nurses and other colleagues caring for patients.

Our specialists also regularly travel abroad to meet with international colleagues to learn about developments in the treatment of diseases and the public health measures being implemented in other countries to reduce illness.

At international meetings of liver specialists our physicians were increasingly expressing concern about the sharp increase in cirrhosis and other disease caused by alcohol use in Ireland. The number of deaths due to liver disease has doubled in the last 20 years, and alcohol is associated with occupation of approximately 1500 beds each night in Irish hospitals.

Alcohol-related disorders accounted for one in 10 first admissions to Irish psychiatric hospitals in 2011 and alcohol is a leading cause of cancer in Ireland. A quarter of all injuries presenting to accident and emergency departments are alcohol related. It is a factor in suicide, domestic abuse and accidents. There is also evidence that alcohol has a reinforcing effect on poverty. Alcohol harm costs the taxpayer an estimated €3.7 billion a year in health, crime and public order costs in addition to other ancillary costs such as work-place absenteeism. In a recent report the WHO highlights that almost half of all Irish drinkers engage in heavy episodic drinking on a regular basis, putting Ireland close to the top in binge drinking worldwide¹. Thus, Ireland has a major problem in both the quantity of alcohol consumed and the pattern of that consumption.

2

The RCPI Policy Group on Alcohol

The College has a long tradition of advocating for public health measures and to improve the standard of care offered to patients. In 2012 RCPI gathering experts working as healthcare professionals treating all aspects of care required for people affected by alcohol use in Irish society to work together to research and recommend evidence-based policies to reduce health harm. It also has policy groups on tobacco and on obesity.

Since 2012, the RCPI Policy Group on Alcohol has focused on highlighting alcohol health-harm, proposing solutions to reduce this harm, and influencing decision makers to take action to address the damage caused by problem alcohol use.

The RCPI's Policy Group on Alcohol has engaged in action on alcohol health harm in several ways:

- Spokespersons from the Policy Group have provided accurate evidencebased information to the public on alcohol health dangers.
- In 2013, the Policy Group published a policy statement, *Reducing Alcohol Health Harm*, which proposed a number of evidence based actions to reduce alcohol consumption.
- The Policy Group has made pre-budget submissions to the Department of Finance recommending the introduction of a minimum unit price for alcoholic beverages and an increase in excise duties on alcohol.
- Spokespersons from the Policy Group have presented research and information on alcohol health harm at public meetings, in the media, Faculty Scientific Meetings and other RCPI events.
- The Policy Group is represented on the organizing committee of Action on Alcohol Week.
- The Policy Group is working in an advisory capacity to the National Programme Office for Traffic Medicine on a health leaflet giving advice on alcohol and driving.
- The policy group highlighted and publicly criticised Arthur's day as a drinking festival with significant harms. It was subsequently cancelled.

Members of the RCPI Policy Group on Alcohol

Prof Frank Murray - Chair	Beaumont Hospital Dublin & Royal College of Physicians of Ireland (RCPI)
Prof Joe Barry	Faculty of Public Health Medicine, RCPI
Dr Declan Bedford	Faculty of Public Health Medicine, RCPI
Dr Turlough Bolger	Faculty of Paediatrics, RCPI
Dr Thomas Breslin	Irish Association for Emergency Medicine
Dr Blanaid Hayes	Faculty of Occupational Medicine, RCPI
Dr Marie Laffoy	National Cancer Control Programme
Prof Aiden McCormick	Irish Society of Gastroenterology
Prof Deirdre Murphy	Institute of Obstetricians & Gynaecologists
Dr Brian Norton	The Irish College of General Practitioners
Dr Kieran O'Shea	Institute of Orthopaedic Surgery
Dr Eimear Smith	Irish Association for Rehabilitation Medicine
Dr Bobby Smyth	The College of Psychiatry of Ireland
Dr Stephen Stewart	Centre for Liver Disease Mater Misericordiae Hospital
Prof William Tormey	Faculty of Pathology, RCPI

Executive Summary

Alcohol consumption in Ireland remains at very high levels in comparison to other European countries. Despite a reduction in per capita consumption in recent years, at an estimated 10.7 litres of alcohol consumed per adult in 2013², consumption of alcohol is still well in excess of recommended low risk limits and the Healthy Ireland target of 9.2 litres³. Irish people continue to binge drink more frequently than most other nationalities; a recent report by the WHO highlights that almost half of all Irish drinkers engage in heavy episodic drinking on a regular basis, putting Ireland close to the top in binge drinking worldwide⁴. Thus, Ireland has a major problem in both the quantity of alcohol consumed and the pattern of that consumption.

The RCPI's Policy Group on Alcohol fully supports the approach set out in the Department of Health 2012 Steering Group Report on a National Substance Misuse Strategy (NSMS)⁵ and it is our view that implementation of the Public Health (Alcohol) Bill, the first of its kind, will set a strong precedent for further changes that will positively impact the health and well-being of the nation for many years to come. In March 2004, Ireland made history by becoming the first country in the world to ban smoking in the workplace. Since then countries all over the world have followed Ireland's example. As a small country, we now have a unique opportunity to lead the way internationally on alcohol harm reduction and facilitate the implementation of similar legislation in the UK and further afield.

We fully support the legislation which addresses the issues of Labelling of Alcohol Products and Minimum Unit Pricing (MUP) in detail. Based on our review of the Bill, and informed by the most recent published research on the effects of underage drinking and the impact of MUP, there are a number of additional recommendations we would like to see included in the final legislation:

5

- Commencement of provisions (Head 1, 6, 15 & 16)
 - The Bill lacks detail on the commencement of important provisions including MUP (Head 6) and the 2-year pilot of the Statutory Code for the display of alcohol (Head 15). We understand that different provisions of the Bill will commence at different stages, and in some cases some time after the enactment of the Bill. We strongly recommend, however, that:
 - Section 9 of the *Intoxicating Liquor Act 2008* (Head 15, 16) be commenced immediately
 - Short to medium term dates are provided for each provision in the Bill. We understand it is the intention to bring in MUP at the same time as Northern Ireland. While this is the ideal, we believe it should be brought in in this jurisdiction in any case if there is a delay in Northern Ireland.
 - Explanations are provided for provisions without fixed commencement dates and dates in the longer-term.
- Enforcement mechanisms and penalties (Heads 10, 11, 12, 13, 17, 18)
 - In order to ensure oversight and rigorous implementation at a local level, further detail is needed on enforcement mechanisms, penalties, and dedicated resources particularly to address the sale and supply to minors. We recommend the following:
 - A mandatory obligation on the Executive to appoint authorised officers so that Head 10(1) to read 'shall appoint' to replace current provision 'may appoint'.
 - Head 12 should provide an additional 12(1)(d) as follows:
 (d) such other substituted service as the District Court Rules provide.
 - The establishment of statutory training standards for staff involved in the sale of alcohol, in the on-trade and the offtrade, for existing licensees and as a condition of the licensing process.

- Indicators should be identified and monitored to evaluate the level of enforcement and overall impact and effectiveness of the new regulation.
- Onerous penalties particularly around the sale and supply of alcohol to minors should be implemented.
- An effective and realistic MUP level (Heads 6 & 7)
 - The Irish Independent reported on February 4th 2015 that the Department of Health was examining an alcohol unit price of between 90c and €1.10⁶. Given the average price of a litre of milk is over €1, we support setting the MUP at least at this level. We believe that this single step is the most important aspect of this legislation. Modelling suggests that there will be an immediate positive societal and individual impact from the introduction of a high MUP⁷.
 - Evidence shows that young people are likely to be price responsive given their limited resources⁸. There is consistent evidence from the US that increased alcohol prices reduced overall alcohol consumption and episodic heavy drinking amongst high school students⁹. We believe that introducing a high MUP will be an effective means to address the problem of underage drinking.
 - Revenue raised from MUP should be ring-fenced for resourcing enforcement measures around the sale of alcohol.
- Restrictions on the sale of alcohol (Heads 15 & 16)
 - Environmental Health Officers (EHOs) have responsibility for the enforcement of the tobacco ban in public houses, a task they carry out very well. Similar powers and resources will be required to enforce the proposed statutory code of practice for the display of alcohol products.
 - The Bill should include provisions for strict regulation and enforcement around online drinks promotions.

- The number of outlets where alcohol can be purchased should be reduced and further restrictions imposed on opening times of alcohol outlets.
- The 2-year pilot phase of the Statutory Code on the display of alcohol should be systematically monitored and evaluated by EHOs or by an independent body.
- Phasing out alcohol sport sponsorship (Head 9)
 - The existing voluntary code of practice on sports sponsorship, incorporating audience profiling, was written by the alcohol industry. We believe it is a mistake to give audience profiling a legal basis. The idea that sponsorship will be permitted until sports organisations secure alternate funding is not effective. The EU wide ban on tobacco advertising and sponsorship imposed by EU legislation in 2003¹⁰ was opposed by industry at the time on the grounds that it would result in damage to sport. As anticipated by regulators, other industries were eager to take the place of the tobacco industry, with no ill effects to the sport. The phasing out of sponsorship will ensure the reduction of harm for the next generation - the longer we delay, the longer the tail of alcohol related harms extends into the next 20 years. We strongly recommend that a commencement date is set for the phasing out of alcohol sponsorship of sport in the medium term, and a target date to end all alcohol sport sponsorship in the longer-term.

• Education campaign on safe drinking guidelines (Head 5)

 Labelling alone will not be sufficient to encourage the public to track their alcohol intake as understanding of recommended units of alcohol per week is still weak¹¹. Compulsory labelling should be implemented alongside a comprehensive education campaign on guidelines for safe drinking. We suggest an additional provision to this Act as follows:

The Executive shall have as its objective -

The promotion of public awareness of matters relating to alcohol consumption and health harm. This will include an educational role in the awareness of the dangers of the consumption of alcohol to include the consumption during pregnancy and be particularly directed at people under the age of 30 years.

- A strategy for underage drinking
 - A strategy to address underage drinking is significantly absent in the Heads of Bill. Alcohol is a factor in suicide, domestic abuse, accidents, workplace absenteeism and crime¹². There is also evidence that alcohol has a reinforcing effect on poverty¹³. The Policy Group proposes strong enforcement of the measures included in the Bill around the sale of alcohol to minors.
- Provision for increases in excise duty
 - There should be a provision to increase excise duty on alcohol in future budgets at least in line with inflation to ensure that alcohol does not become more affordable. Due to the high cost of treating patients suffering from alcohol-related harm, we recommend that Government allocate revenue raised through increased excise duty for research into alcohol-related harms.

Alcohol Consumption and Health Harm

The Department of Health NSMS aims to promote 'healthier lifestyle choices throughout society in relation to alcohol⁴. It recommends:

- The development of a system to monitor the enforcement of the intoxicating liquor legislation with respect to the sale, supply or delivery of alcohol to minors.
- The establishment of standards for server training programmes in the ontrade and the off-trade.
- Phasing out through legislation drinks industry sponsorship of sport and other large public events in Ireland.

The RCPI Policy Group on Alcohol strongly supports the inclusion of the above provisions in the new Public Health Bill. Alcohol is a psychoactive substance that impacts on individual health and on wider society. In large amounts, alcohol has a toxic effect and can be fatal. Long term heavy consumption of alcohol is associated with mortality from wholly alcohol attributable diseases such as alcoholic liver disease, the majority of these deaths being from alcoholic liver cirrhosis.¹⁴

There is a proven health, social and economic impact associated with excessive alcohol consumption in Ireland. The number of deaths due to liver disease has doubled in the last 20 years, and alcohol is associated with occupation of approximately 1500 beds each night in Irish hospitals²⁷. A quarter of all injuries presenting to accident and emergency departments are alcohol related. It is a factor in suicide, domestic abuse and accidents. Alcohol harm costs the taxpayer an estimated €3.7 billion a year in health, crime and public order costs in addition to other ancillary costs such as work-place absenteeism^{11, 15}.

Data presented by the RCPI's Policy Group on Alcohol in its policy statement *Reducing Alcohol Health Harm* highlights:

 In Ireland, between 2000 and 2004, it was estimated that 4.4 per cent of deaths were caused by alcohol (includes deaths from chronic alcoholrelated conditions such as alcoholic liver disease and liver cancer, and accidental and non-accidental deaths while under the influence of alcohol)¹⁶.

- A report by the National Drug Related Deaths Index which focuses on deaths in alcohol dependent people found that in 2008, there were 88 deaths every month which were directly attributable to alcohol¹⁷. The same report also showed that between 2004 and 2008, alcohol caused nearly twice as many deaths as all other drugs combined.
- Mortality related to cirrhosis, the commonest cause of which is alcohol, doubled from 1994 to 2008 and hospital admissions in Ireland for alcoholic liver disease almost doubled between 1995 and 2007¹⁸.
- Alcohol-related disorders accounted for 1 in 10 first admissions to Irish psychiatric hospitals in 2011¹⁹.
- Alcohol is classified as a group 1 carcinogen and it is one of the most important causes of cancer in Ireland¹⁴. In 2007, the International Agency for Research on Cancer concluded that there was a causal link between alcohol and cancer of the oral cavity, pharynx, larynx, oesophagus, liver, colon, rectum and female breast, and that there was evidence of a dose– response relationship with respect to all these cancers – the greater the volume consumed, the greater the risk of cancer²⁰.
- The 2002 Sexual Abuse and Violence in Ireland (SAVI) study of over 3,000 Irish adults found that alcohol was involved in almost half of the cases of sexual abuse that occurred in adulthood (53% of men and 45% of women)²¹. To add to this, a 2010 study for the HSE reported that since 1998, public order offences, many of which are alcohol related, have risen from 77 per 10,000 of the population to 139 per 10,000 of the population in 2005¹¹.
- The results of an extensive study recently published in the BMJ²² suggest that previous associations indicating a protective effect of low alcohol consumption and all cause mortality is limited to women drinkers aged 65 years or more, and is likely to be due to selection bias and other confounders. Little to no protection was found to be present in other agesex groups.

Underage Drinking

- In 2002, 1 in 4 injuries presenting to accident and emergency departments was related to alcohol and over half of these injuries occurred in people younger than 30 years of age²³.
- Irish adolescents with serious drug and alcohol problems had commenced alcohol use at a much earlier age than their counterparts without significant drug or alcohol problems²⁴.
- Alcohol is strongly linked to suicide, particularly suicides in young men^{25,26}.
 A 2006 study showed that more than half of all people who died from suicide had alcohol in their blood²⁷. From 2000 to 2004, alcohol was estimated to be the major contributing factor in 823 suicides¹⁵.
- In Ireland between 1995 and 2007, the rate of discharges for Alcoholic Liver Disease increased by 247 per cent for 15-34 year olds, and by 224 per cent for 35-49 year olds²⁸.
- In an Irish study 45 per cent of men and 26 per cent of women stated that alcohol consumption contributed to having sex without using contraception²⁹.

Evidence for Recommendations

Enforcement

The Policy Group endorses tighter regulation around the sale, supply and consumption of alcohol products especially concerning underage drinkers. In order for the new legislation to be really effective, further clarity is needed on the resources that will be provided and the procedures for enforcing the new legislation. Valuable learnings should be taken from the STAD-project (Stockholm Prevents Alcohol and Drug Problems)³⁰ on the key issue of enforcement:

- Evaluation of the 10-year STAD-project (Stockholm Prevents Alcohol and Drug Problems) has demonstrated that a collaborative approach between the licensing board and local police was effective to better regulate and enforce established laws and Responsible Beverage Service Training. As part of the STAD project, a licensing board distributed letters to licensed establishments informing them of any reported occurrences of over-serving alcohol to patrons within their establishment.
- The STAD-project also provides evidence that Community Mobilization involving important stakeholders from the community, local police, local council, licensing board, owners of licensed establishments, health authorities and trade unions for licensed premises and their staff, is an effective mechanism to raise awareness and increase knowledge around alcohol health harm, and to help develop policy at local and national levels.

Minimum Unit Pricing

Minimum unit pricing targets problems caused by cheap alcohol and mainly affects problem drinkers and young adults. It has little or no impact on the vast majority of drinkers.

The evidence from states with minimum prices suggest that they lead to significant reductions in consumption and harm:

• Evidence from British Columbia, Canada showed that between 2002 and 2009, introduction of minimum pricing reduced the percentage of alcohol-related deaths. Alcohol related deaths fell by 32% within a year of the first introduction of a minimum price for alcohol^{31.} Introduction of minimum

pricing in Saskatchewan province in Canada also reduced alcohol consumption, with a 10% increase in minimum price associated with an 8.4% reduction in total consumption³². In addition, there was a 19% reduction in alcohol related crime following introduction of MUP in Saskatchewan.

- Preliminary research findings by Prof Tim Stockwell, University of Victoria, based on 9 years of crime data for 89 local health areas in British Colombia suggest a 10% increase in average minimum price is associated with decreases of 19.5% in alcohol-related traffic offences, 18.5% in property crimes and of 10.4% in violent crimes³³.
- In the Tennant Creek area of Australia an initiative which controlled the sale of cheap alcohol to communities with a high Aboriginal population found that in the two years following the restrictions on cheap alcohol sales, there was a 19% reduction in alcohol consumption and a commensurate reduction in alcohol related hospital admissions and alcohol related crime³⁴.
- In the United Kingdom, it has been estimated that a 10% rise in the minimum prices of alcoholic beverages would lead to a drop of 7.0% in male and 8.3% in female cirrhosis mortality, a drop of 5.0% for male victims and 7.1% for female victims of homicide, and a drop of 28.8% for male and 37.4% for female deaths from explicitly alcohol-involved causes (alcohol dependence, poisoning, etc)³⁵.

The Sheffield Alcohol Research Group (SARG) has done extensive work in modelling the impact of minimum pricing in the UK³⁶. Researchers looking at the impact of a 70p MUP in Scotland concluded the following effects³⁷:

- Population consumption of alcohol would decrease by 16.9%.
- 26% decrease in annual consumption of alcoholic beverages among harmful drinkers
- Reduction in healthcare costs of £11m and a reduction in unemployment costs of £181.8m for harmful drinkers in the 1st year following implementation.

SARG conducted a model-based appraisal of MUP for Northern Ireland and found that it would be an effective mechanism in reducing alcohol consumption, alcohol-

related deaths and hospitalisations, crime, workplace absences, and associated costs⁶. SARG concluded that with a 75p MUP policy in Northern Ireland:

- Consumption per drinker per week will decrease 19.4%, with a 26.9% reduction among high risk drinkers.
- Hospital admissions per 100,000 population deemed 'in poverty' will decrease by 1,114 annually and admissions for alcoholic liver disease are estimated to reduce by 535 cases annually.
- Costs of crime are estimated to reduce by £72.3million in the 1st year following implementation of this policy, and by £1,063m over 20 years.
- An estimated £3,364million saving in total societal value from the harm reductions in health, crime and workplace absence over the 20 year period modelled.

A similar modelling exercise is currently underway by SARG for the Republic Ireland. It is reasonable to assume that introduction of MUP here will result in similar trends in reduced alcohol consumption and alcohol health harm as seen in the Northern Ireland and UK estimates. Given pricing disparities, differences in unit measures, and other regulatory and contextual differences between UK and Ireland, we should set our own level of MUP based on research in Ireland, independent of levels proposed in the UK.

Restrictions on the sale of alcohol

The placement of alcohol in mixed retail outlets alongside groceries gives the impression that alcohol is an ordinary commodity, and normalises alcohol as part of a weekly shopping list. In the long term, we are in favour of off trade alcohol only being sold in specialist off-licences rather than in all types of shops. However, Section 9 of the *Intoxicating Liquor Act 2008*, which provides for structural separation of alcohol products from other beverages and food products in premises which are engaged in mixed trading, such as supermarkets, convenience stores and petrol stations, should be commenced immediately if it has not been commenced before the enactment of this Act. We welcome the proposed statutory code of

practice for the display of alcohol products but it is important that the legislation set out robust procedures for the monitoring and evaluation of this provision.

Recent years have seen a shift from alcohol sales in pubs to sales in the off-trade sector. Between 1998 and 2010 there was a 161 per cent increase in the number of full off-licences, while pub licences decreased by 19 per cent over the same period⁴. Supermarkets, convenience stores and even petrol stations sell alcohol, often at discounted prices. The abolition of the Restrictive Practices (Groceries) Order in 2006 allowed for a variety of goods to be sold below cost price, including alcohol. Studies from both Finland and Sweden showed linkages between alcohol-related harm and the number of outlets selling alcohol³⁸. We support the recommendation of the NSMS report that the HSE should be allowed to object to the granting of new licences and the renewal of licences. To date these matters have been dealt with from a criminal justice perspective but this recommendation emphasises that alcohol and the harm it causes is a health issue as well.

Alcohol Sponsorship

A ban on alcohol sponsorship of sporting events would make a significant contribution to reducing alcohol related harm in Ireland by reducing the age at which many Irish children start to consume alcohol and also by increasing public support for other measures.

Research findings suggest a ban on alcohol sponsorship will limit people's exposure to alcohol advertisement, thereby reducing the association of alcohol with a sporting event and possibly overall consumption³⁹. The case of *Loi Evin* in France⁴⁰ shows that since the introduction of the sponsorship ban alcohol consumption has declined. In addition, if we consider alcohol companies invest heavily in alcohol advertisement and sponsorship this suggests, *a priori*, that advertisement and sponsorship is important for attracting customers and any ban on alcohol sponsorship will ultimately reduce alcohol consumption.

- A study by Gordon, MacKintosh and Moodie concluded that, it is up to policymakers and regulators to shape the direction of alcohol marketing policy and regulation⁴¹.
- In addition, an alcohol sponsorship ban is also largely supported by the Irish public. According to a 2012 HRB survey, on public attitudes to alcohol, twofifths (42 %) support a ban on the alcohol industry sponsoring sporting

events and over one-third (37%) support a ban on sponsoring musical events⁴².

- The effect of alcohol advertising on youth alcohol consumption is noted in a WHO⁴³ report: *"in markets where alcohol is more widely advertised young people are more likely to continue to increase their drinking as they move into their mid-twenties, whereas drinking declines at an earlier age among those who are less exposed".*
- Considering that the exact amount spent by the alcohol industry on sports sponsorship is not available it is therefore impossible to establish the full impact a ban on alcohol sponsorship of sporting events would have.
 However, there is evidence from the sponsorship ban of sporting events by tobacco companies in Australia to suggest that there would be no loss of funding to sporting organisations/events⁴⁴.

According to the European Sponsorship association⁴⁵, the largest sponsors of sporting events in 2009 were telecommunications, clothing, banking and finance, cars, airlines, insurance companies, electronics, energy, oil, and credit cards. Alcohol sponsorship was not present in the top ten industry sponsors indicating that there are other sources of revenue apart from alcohol companies. There is evidence from Ireland⁴⁶ to suggest that alcohol sponsorship is not the only funding available to sporting organisations. For example in 2008, the GAA rearranged its sponsorship deal with Guinness, whereby the drinks company was no longer the only sponsor of the GAA hurling championship, instead it was one of three sponsors, the other two being Centra and Etihad.

RCPI is in favour of implementing this ban on a phased basis, whereby all current sponsorship deals will be allowed to operate until 2019. We believe that this time frame will allow all sporting organisations to acquire new sponsors without harming revenues or resources. We firmly support a complete ban on any new alcohol sponsorship deals from coming into operation.

Guidelines on safe drinking

There should be a statutory obligation on the HSE to perform a public awareness campaign on the consumption of alcohol and health harm as indicated above. The HSE has published Guidelines on safe drinking⁴⁷, however, knowledge of standard drink measures and weekly low-risk consumption amounts remains weak. A broad public health information campaign is required to increase public knowledge as a prelude to behaviour change. Education campaigns, which are mentioned in the NSMS recommendations, together with the proposed legislation around labelling, will help individuals to make more informed choices.

There has never been health labelling on alcohol products before therefore it will take people time to get used to pure alcohol content displayed in grams. This is however, a key step towards clarifying recommended weekly consumption as set out in the HSE guidelines (e.g. ½ pint = 10 grams alcohol = 1 Standard Drink = 1 'Irish' unit). Better information from health sources will help individuals make more informed choices, as will a restriction on information from commercial sources.

RCPI will also play its part in developing and implementing more detailed clinical guidelines and clinical information to provide extra information for the population in interpreting these guidelines.

Excise duty to offset cost of alcohol harm

The maintenance of alcohol excise duties at existing rates in Budget 2015 indicates that the voice of industry is being heard loud and clear over the calls of public health advocates. While the Drinks Industry argues that taxes on alcohol in Ireland are high compared to other countries, alcohol is relatively cheap and affordable in Ireland because consumer purchasing power increased more rapidly than alcohol prices over the past 20 years. The increase in excise duty on alcohol in the 2012 Budget, for example, only restored the rates to their pre 2009 level. Between 1994 and 2012, excise duties were not increased in line with inflation or consumers' income, which led to alcohol becoming significantly more affordable.

Excise increases alone will not result in the level of change in alcohol consumption necessary to bring us within Healthy Ireland targets, but making alcohol less affordable is a key component of an alcohol reduction strategy. Excise duty

increases have successfully been used to reduce cigarette smoking. Between 1994 and 2010, excise on tobacco was increased by 171% which led to a reduction in cigarette sales of 31% and an increase in excise duty receipts from cigarettes of 149% or €1.1 billon in 2011⁴⁸. There is a strong case to be made that the Government commit to increasing excise duties in future budgets at least in line with inflation. Increasing excise or other tax on off-sales of alcohol would serve the twin aims of reducing consumption and increasing revenue for Government.

There is very little funding available for research into alcohol-related harm, especially alcoholic liver disease. Despite the high associated mortality for alcoholic liver disease, it is an unpopular subject with funding bodies, and as a result, there have been no advances in treatment and no new drugs have been developed in recent years. We therefore call on the Government to allocate specific funding for research into alcohol-related harms. We propose that a proportion of the revenue generated through MUP and increased excise duty be allocated to research bodies to help offset the cost of alcohol harm. Based on the polluter pays principle, the Government should also use social responsibility levies on the alcohol industry to support this research. It is important to emphasise that any research conducted should be independent of the alcohol industry, and the funds should be spent on front-line research; both clinical and epidemiological.

References

¹ WHO (2014), Global Status Report on Alcohol Health.

⁶ O'Regan, E. (Feb 4, 2015), "Drink blitz sees bottle of wine rise to €9 minimum", Irish Independent. Available online at: http://www.independent.ie/irish-news/health/drink-blitz-sees-bottle-of-wine-rise-to-9-minimum-30962996.html

⁷ Angus, C., Meng, Y., Ally, A., Holmes, J. and Brennan, A. (2014) 'Model-based appraisal of minimum unit pricing for alcohol in Northern Ireland: An adaptation of the Sheffield Alcohol Policy Model version 3', Sheffield: ScHARR, University of Sheffield.

⁸ Livingston M, Laslett AM, and Dietze P (2008). *Individual and community correlates of young people's high-risk drinking in Victoria, Australia.* Drug Alcohol Depend, 98(3), 241-8 ⁹ Grossman et al (1994). Effects of alcohol price policy on youth. J Res Adolesc, 4(2), 347-64

¹⁰ Directive 2003/33/EC of the European Parliament and of the Council of 26 May 2003 on the approximation of the laws, regulations and administrative provisions of the Member States relating to the advertising and sponsorship of tobacco products. Available online at: http://eur-lex.europa.eu/legal-content/EN/TXT/?uri=CELEX:32003L0033

¹¹ Hope, Ann and Mongan, Deirdre (2010) *What constitutes a 'standard drink'*? Drugnet Ireland, Issue 32, Winter 2009. pp. 4-5.

¹² Byrne S (2011) *Costs to society of problem alcohol use in Ireland*. Dublin: Health Service Executive.

¹³ Eds Boyle P et al. (2013) *Alcohol.* Oxford University Press, Oxford, 43.

¹⁴ Martin J, Barry J, Goggin D, Morgan K, Ward M and O'Suilleabhain T (2010) *Alcoholattributable mortality in Ireland*. Alcohol. 45: 379-86.

¹⁵ Royal College of Physicians of Ireland (2013) "Reducing Alcohol Health Harm".

¹⁶ WHO (2011) *Global Status report on Alcohol and Health*. World Health Organisation

¹⁷ Lyons S, Lynn E, Walsh S, Sutton M and Long J (2011) *Alcohol-related deaths and deaths among people who were alcohol dependent in Ireland, 2004 to 2008.* Dublin: Health Research Board.

¹⁸ Leon DA, McCambridge (2006) J. *Liver cirrhosis mortality rates in Britain from 1950-2002: an analysis of routine data.* Lancet 2006; 367:52-56.

¹⁹ Daly A and Walsh D (2010) *Activities of Irish psychiatric units and hospitals 2009: main findings.* HRB Statistics Series 9. Dublin: Health Research Board

²⁰ WHO (2012) Alcohol in the European Union: consumption, harm and policy approaches. World Health Organisation.

²¹ McGee H, Garavan R, de Barra M, Byrne J and Conroy R (2002) The SAVI report: sexual abuse and violence in Ireland. Dublin: The Liffey Press.

²² BMJ 2015;350:h384 | doi: 10.1136/bmj.h384

²³ Hope A, Gill A, Costello G, Sheehan J, Brazil E and Reid V (2005) *Alcohol and injuries in the accident and emergency department - a national perspective*. Dublin: Department of Health and Children.

²⁴ Palmer D and O'Reilly G (2008) *Young People, Alcohol and Drugs*. Juvenile Mental Health Matters, Dublin.

²⁵ Walsh, Brendan M.; Walsh, Dermot. (2011) Suicide in Ireland: the influence of alcohol and unemployment. - Economic & Social Review, Vol. 42, No. 1, Spring, 2011, pp27-47, Dublin: Economic & Social Research Institute

² Foley, A. (2014), "Estimates of Alcohol Consumption per adult in 2013", Dublin City University Business School.

³ Healthy Ireland: A Framework for Improved Health and Wellbeing 2013-2025.

⁴ WHO (2014), Global Status Report on Alcohol Health.

⁵ DoH (2012) Steering Group Report on a National Substance Misuse Strategy. Department of Health and Children, Dublin

²⁶ Walsh, Brendan M.; Walsh, Dermot. (2011) *Suicide in Ireland: the influence of alcohol and unemployment*. - Economic & Social Review, Vol. 42, No. 1, Spring, 2011, pp27-47, Dublin: Economic & Social Research Institute

²⁷ Bedford D, O'Farrell A, Howell F. (2006) *Blood alcohol levels in persons who died from accidents and suicide*. Irish Medical Journal 99:80 – 3.

²⁸ Mongan D, McCormick P, O'Hara S, Smyth B, Long A (2011). *Can Ireland's increased rates of alcoholic liver disease morbidity and mortality be explained by per capita alcohol consumption*? Alcohol and Alcoholism 2011; 46:500.
 ²⁹ Rundle K, Leigh C, McGee H and Layte R (2004) Irish contraception and crisis pregnancy

²⁹ Rundle K, Leigh C, McGee H and Layte R (2004) Irish contraception and crisis pregnancy study: A survey of the general population. Dublin: Crisis pregnancy agency.
 ³⁰ Norström T and Trolldal B. (2013) Was the STAD-program really that successful? Nordic

³⁰ Norström T and Trolldal B. (2013) *Was the STAD-program really that successful?* Nordic Studies on Alcohol and Drugs. 30(3):171-178.

³¹ Zhao et al (2013). The relationship between changes to minimum alcohol prices, outlet densities and alcohol attributable deaths in British Columbia in 2002-2009. Addiction, 108: doi: 10.1111/add.12139

³² Stockwell et al (2012). *The raising of minimum alcohol prices in Saskatchewan, Canada: impacts on consumption and implications for public health.* American Journal of Public

Health: 2012, 102(12), p. e103-e110.

³³ Stockwell, T. (2014). Minimum alcohol price policies in action: A report from Canada. PowerPoint presentation, University of Victoria. Available online at:

http://www.slideshare.net/AlcoholActionIreland/tim-stockwell-presentation-25-march-14 ³⁴ Gray et al (2000). *What Works? A review of evaluated alcohol misuse interventions among Aboriginal Australians*, Addiction 95-1, 11-22

³⁵ Academy of Medical Sciences (2004), *Calling time: The nation's drinking as a major health issue. http://www.acmedsci.ac.uk/p48prid16.html*

³⁶Meng et al (2013). Modelled income group specific impacts of alcohol minimum unit pricing in England 2014/15: Policy appraisals using new developments to the Sheffield Alcohol Policy Model (v2.5) Available online at:

http://www.sheffield.ac.uk/polopoly_fs/1.291621!/file/julyreport.pdf ³⁷ Meng, Y. et al. (2012) *Model-based appraisal of alcohol minimum pricing and off-licensed trade discount bans in Scotland using the Sheffield Alcohol Policy Model (v.2): Second update based on newly available data.* ScHARR, University of Sheffield

³⁸ Chisolm et al (2004) *Reducing the Global Burden of Hazardous Alcohol Use: A Comparative Cost-Effectiveness Analysis.* Journal of Studies on Alcohol (November 2004)

³⁹ Anderson, P. de Bruijn, A. Angus, K. Gordon, R. & Hastings, G. (2009) "Special issue: The message and the media; Impacts of Alcohol Advertising and Media Exposure on Adolescent Alcohol Use: A Systematic Review of Longitudinal Studies", *Alcohol & Alcoholism*, Vol 44, No 3, PP 229-243.

⁴⁰ Rigaud, A. And Craplet, M. (2004) "The Loi Evin: A French Exception".

⁴¹ Gordon, R. MacKintosh, A.M. & Moodie, C. (2010) "The Impact of Alcohol Marketing on Youth Drinking Behaviour: A Two-stage Cohort Study", *Oxford Journal, Alcohol and Alcoholism*, Vol 45, Issue 5.

⁴² HRB (2012), "Alcohol: Public Knowledge, Attitudes and Behaviours".

⁴³ WHO Regional Office for Europe (2009), "Evidence for the effectiveness and cost-

effectiveness of interventions to reduce alcohol-related harm", Copenhagen: World Health Organization.

⁴⁴ Stephan Woodward, "Effects on Sport of Bans on Tobacco Advertising and Sponsorship in Australia". Available online at: http://www.ash.org.uk/files/documents/ASH_169.pdf

⁴⁵ European Sponsorship Association (2010), "Sponsorship Presentation". Available online at: http://ec.europa.eu/health/alcohol/docs/ev_20101118_co09_en.pdf

⁴⁶ Dermot Crowe – May 12, 2013, "Calling time on its Guinness sponsorship can ultimately be

GAA", good for the Independent. business Irish Available online at: http://www.independent.ie/sport/hurling/last-orders-for-old-money-29260069.html ⁴⁷ HealthPromotion.ie. Available online at: https://www.healthpromotion.ie/hp-files/docs/HPM00646.pdf ⁴⁸ Mongan, Deirdre (2013) *Alcohol: increasing price can reduce harm and contribute to*

revenue collection. Available online at: http://www.drugsandalcohol.ie/19131/



Royal College of Physicians of Ireland Frederick House 19 South Frederick Street Dublin 2

www.rcpi.ie